FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/14/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/13/2022 3:22 PM

NO. _____100828-7 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 82559-3-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

I.J.S.,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Joseph Wilson, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC The Denny Building 2200 Sixth Avenue, Suite 1250 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 623-2373

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeals decision indicates that the Washington Supreme Court "misspoke" in State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 330 P.3d 182 (2014), regarding the standard of review of findings of fact and conclusions of law for sufficiency of the evidence after a bench trial. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3), to address the conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and Homan and the conflicts the Court of Appeals identifies between Homan and other Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions on the review standard for the constitutional sufficiency of the evidence?

- 2a. Does merely resisting officers' attempts at physical restraint, particularly when officers are acting unlawfully, constitute sufficient evidence of an assault against an officer and does the Court of Appeals affirmative answer to this question conflict with <u>State v. D.E.D.</u>, 200 Wn. App. 484, 402 P.3d 851 (2017), such that review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3)?
- 2b. Given that police and prosecutors brought this case to punish Mr. S for his unsuccessful attempt to spit on a police officer, and because spitting at someone is not intended to cause bodily injury and would not cause reasonable fear or apprehension of bodily harm, was there insufficient evidence to sustain an assault conviction based on the spitting and should this question be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) to provide guidance to state actors who appear to believe that attempted spitting is constitutionally sufficient evidence of an assault?

3. To the extent it is necessary to address whether Mr. S's actions in resisting officers' entry into his home and physical seizure of his person constituted an assault, should the question of whether officers had authority for a warrantless entry of Mr. S's home be reviewed pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3) in light of the conflict in Court of Appeals decisions regarding what level of resistance to unlawful police actions constitutes assault?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 26, 2020, three officers arrived at an Everett apartment complex based on multiple 911 calls about an ongoing domestic violence situation. CP 62, 67, 69, 98 (finding of fact 2); RP 8-9, 23-24. When they arrived, resident Alicia Overstreet showed them a two- to three-second video of an "assault," which showed two unidentified males fist fighting and one unidentified woman attempting to intervene; Ms. Overstreet directed the officers to Unit 52. CP 43, 49, 69, 98 (findings of fact 3-9); RP 10, 24, 38.

Officers went to Unit 52, where 16-year-old I.S. lived with his mother.¹ CP 98 (finding of fact 11). They heard loud screaming coming the apartment. RP 18, 25, 28, 30, 41, 43-45; CP 98-99 (findings of fact 12, 17-19). No weapons had been reported and they saw no weapons. RP 16, 43. They saw no injuries. RP 18, 30, 44. They neither saw nor heard any physical aggression of any kind. RP 16, 29-30, 45. They admitted they had no idea of Mr. S's involvement, who was the "victim," who was the "suspect," or whether a crime had even occurred or was still occurring. CP 99 (finding of fact 24), 100 (conclusion of law 3); RP 15-17.

They nonetheless entered Mr. S's apartment to "control the scene." RP 16-17. Because of the loud yelling and "chaotic" situation, they stated they could not conduct their investigation, which they said prompted them to enter only out of "concern" for the people in the apartment. RP 15, 41. They said they were also

¹ Mr. S and his mother share a surname. To protect Mr. S's identity, given that he is a juvenile, he does not use his mother's name in the briefing but refers to her as his mother.

concerned for an unaccounted-for third person, yet they did not bother to sweep the apartment to look for this person or assuage their supposed concern. RP 33, 48; CP 99 (finding of fact 25). The officers admitted they had training on and knew how to apply for warrants but claimed that the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement justified their entry. RP 19, 21, 27, 42.

Upon entry, Mr. S screamed at officers repeatedly that they had no right to enter or remain in his apartment. RP 15, 17-18. Officers separated Mr. S from his mother, who was very emotional. RP 26; CP 43. When Mr. S leapt over the couch toward where his mother was, officers then grabbled hold of Mr. S, who struggled against their physical contact. CP 43-44, 49, 62, 75-76. Because he would not cease his struggle, officers and Mr. S ended up on the ground, officers knelt on him, and handcuffed him. CP 43-44, 76. Mr. S's mother was screaming at officers not to hurt her son. CP 44, 76.

When he was on top of Mr. S, Sgt. Kevin Fairchild noticed Mr. S attempting to turn to him and noticed he was forming a "loogie." CP 44. As Mr. S spit toward him, Sgt. Fairchild moved out the way, thereby avoiding any contact. CP 44. Based on the spitting, officers believed they had probable cause to arrest Mr. S for assault in the third degree against a law enforcement officer. CP 71, 77

The officers' remaining "investigation" disclosed very little. Apparently, Mr. S and his mother were having a nonphysical fight and a neighbor, Jacob Parejo, intervened. CP 67, 70-71. Words were exchanged between Mr. S and Mr. Parejo, Mr. Parejo exited his truck and began to punch Mr. S, and Mr. Parejo forced Ms. S to the ground where he stood over Mr. S and punched him. CP 45. Mr. S's mother hit Mr. Parejo with her purse in an attempt to cease Mr. Parejo's assault. CP 70-71, 78

No charge was filed against Mr. S with respect to any assault against a private citizen. Instead, the state charged Mr. S

with third degree assault against Sgt.t Fairchild for the attempted spitting. CP 157-58.

Mr. S moved to suppress all evidence of what occurred in his apartment. CP 142-52. Among other things, Mr. S contended that the exigent circumstances exception did not justify entry into his apartment, which was the only warrant exception relied on by the prosecution. CP 142-46.

The trial court rejected the defense arguments and determined that the officers' entry into Mr. S's apartment was lawful under the exigent circumstances exception. It made several findings of fact as cited in the foregoing factual discussion. CP 97-100. However, the trial court found, "The entry was relatively peaceful, and the officers did not push past [Mr. S's mother] to get inside" and "Sgt. Fairchild's entry at the back of the apartment was also peaceful." CP 100 (findings 30 and 31, respectively). The trial court entered five conclusions of law:

- 1. Pursuant to the facts outlined *State v*. *Smith*[, 165 Wn.2d 511, 199 P.3d 396 (2009)], the exigent circumstance exception applied in this case.
- 2. The officers were acting reasonable given the situation at hand.
- 3. They did not know who was assaulted, the identification of the parties involved, where the third male was, if anyone posed a danger to those present, the status of anything that occurred, and no one was calm enough to tell them.
- 4. It was the officer's duty to enter to deter a possibly ongoing assault, ensure safety, provide help and prevent a suspect fleeing.
- 5. The court denies the defense motion to suppress evidence.

CP 100.

The parties proceeded to a bench trial on stipulated facts. CP 83-141. The trial court considered the documentary evidence submitted by the parties and attached this documentary evidence to its findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 37-82. The trial court entered four findings of fact:

1. That on or about March 26, 2020, [I.S.], Respondent herein, did intentionally assault Kevin Fairchild, a law enforcement officer who was performing his official duties at the time of the assault.

- 2. That when Sgt. Fairchild attempted to speak with Respondent about a recent incident he began to fight with officers.
- 3. That while Sgt. Fairchild was attempting to physically control Respondent, Respondent spit at Sgt. Fairchild.
- 4. The above facts have been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 37. The trial court also entered two conclusions of law: "1. This court has jurisdiction over this proceeding" and "2. The Respondent is guilty of the crime of" third degree assault against Kevin Fairchild. CP 38.

The trial court sentenced Mr. S to 10 days of confinement, six months of community supervision, and 24 hours of community service. CP 27-28.

Mr. S appealed. CP 6-21. He challenged the sufficiency of the evidence for assault given that no spit made contact with Sgt. Fairchild and was not intended to cause bodily harm and did not cause fear or apprehension of bodily harm. Br. of Appellant, 10-19. He also argued that officers' entry into his house was

unconstitutional. Br. of Appellant, 19-26. As discussed below, the Court of Appeals rejected these arguments and affirmed.

D. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeals decision expressly refuses to acknowledge <u>State v. Homan</u> as Supreme Court authority, conflicting with the decision and meriting review

Mr. S quoted the <u>Homan</u> decision in his brief regarding the standard of review of sufficiency claims following a bench trial. Br. of Appellant at 11 (quoting <u>Homan</u>, 181 Wn.2d at 105-06). As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "Without question, I.J.S. sets forth the standard of review described in <u>Homan</u>. <u>I.J.S.</u>, slip op. at 5.

The Court of Appeals proceeded to expressly disagree with the <u>Homan</u> decision and standard of review and contended the sufficiency of the evidence standard from <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979), and adopted in <u>State v. Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980), is the correct standard. <u>I.J.S.</u>, slip op. at 6-9 (discussing other

Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases that apply/adopt federal sufficiency review standard announced in <u>Jackson</u>).

Given that the Court of Appeals decision itself identifies a conflict between its decision and other decisions with the <u>Homan</u> decision, concerning the constitutional issue of the sufficiency of the evidence review standard, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3).

- 2. Even under the sufficiency standard espoused by the Court of Appeals, there was insufficient evidence of an assault based on a vague "fighting" reference or based on spitting at but missing an officer
 - a. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with another decision of the Court of Appeals that merely resisting the unlawful actions of police is not assaultive conduct

The Court of Appeals did not address whether spitting and missing is an assault. Instead, it provided mistaken analysis that "a rational trier of fact could conclude that I.J.S. assaulted a law enforcement officer based on Officer Burnett's report that I.J.S.'s [sic] pulled two police officers to the ground and continued to

fight from the ground. Pulling a person to the ground is an intentional and offensive contact." <u>I.J.S.</u>, slip op. at 10.

It was not, Mr. S who made contact with the officers, but the other way around. Mr. S had stated to officers that they were not allowed in his home. Officers disregarded Mr. S's constitutional rights, as addressed in Part D.3 below, entered his home, and attempted to separate him from his mother. When he moved toward his mother, officers grabbed him, he fought to get away, they ended up on the ground, he was handcuffed, and he then unsuccessfully tried to spit on an officer.

Mr. S's resistance to the officers' contact with him in his own home, particularly where the officers were illegally in his home, was not an assault or otherwise unlawful conduct. As the Court of Appeals has held in the context of obstructing an officer, "Passive resistance consistent with the lack of a duty to cooperate, however, is not criminal behavior. According, we concluded that D.E.D.'s resistance to being handcuffed and his ensuing struggle to prevent handcuffing did not amount to

obstructing a law enforcement officer." <u>State v. D.E.D.</u>, 200 Wn. App. 484, 496, 402 P.3d 851 (2017). There is no obligation to cooperate with police, so there is no obligation to accept their seizure of you. <u>Id.</u> at 494.

The <u>D.E.D.</u> court also compared obstructing to other scenarios, such as resisting arrest or assault. <u>Id.</u> at 496. With regarding to resisting, the court noted the "legislature has only imposed a duty to cooperate with a lawful *arrest*" and "[b]y implication, there is no duty to refrain from resisting an unlawful arrest." <u>Id.</u> at 496 & n.10. The court also reasoned that the resisting statute could not be read to impose a duty of cooperation with a mere detention short of arrest. <u>Id.</u> at 496.

As for assault, the <u>D.E.D.</u> court stressed that a person subjected to unlawful seizure still had a duty not to assault or threaten an officer. <u>Id.</u> But "the behavior of D.E.D. [did not] rise to such levels." Id. In D.E.D., the behavior was described as,

The officer attempted to handcuff [D.E.D.], but the younger man pulled his arm away and demanded that the officer not touch him. The officer directed

[D.E.D.] to put his arms behind his back, but the young man refused to comply. He attempted to stiffen his body and pull away from the officer in order to avoid being handcuffed. The officer continued to attempt to handcuff the young man in order to search for a gun. After two minutes, the officer prevailed in overpowering [D.E.D.] and handcuffing him.

Id. at 488.

If the behavior in <u>D.E.D.</u> resisting officers' seizure was not an assault, the behavior here isn't either. Like <u>D.E.D.</u>, Mr. S expressly asserted his constitutional rights to officers and told them they were not allowed in his home. When they entered anyway and grabbed ahold of him in an attempt to control all his movements, he struggled to get away, just as in <u>D.E.D.</u> Mr. S supposes this could be described as "fighting" to escape the officers' restraint of him and they did all fall to the ground, which is what the Court of Appeals relied upon, but this general "fighting" to escape the seizure still does not "rise to such levels" of an assault. <u>Compare D.E.D.</u>, 200 Wn. App. at 496 with <u>I.J.S.</u>, slip op. at 10.

Further, as Mr. S argues in the following section, officers had no lawful authority to be in Mr. S's home. As the D.E.D. court recognized, the law imposes no duty to cooperate with investigating officers, and the legislature recognizes that any duty not to resist officers applies only to lawful arrests, not unlawful arrests or detentions. Id. at 496. The detention here following the warrantless entry was unlawful where officers could not point to I.S. as the suspect of criminal activity or meet an exigency exception to the warrant requirement. Especially in these circumstances, Mr. S had no duty to cooperate and his resistance to being physically restrained in his own home did not amount to an assault. The Court of Appeals' contrary conclusion conflicts with <u>D.E.D.</u> on a question of the constitutional sufficiency of the evidence of assault, meriting RAP 13.4(b)(2) and RAP 13.4(b)(3) review.

b. <u>Guidance is needed on whether attempted</u>
<u>spitting without contact is an assault under</u>
<u>Washington law</u>

The resistance conduct relied on by the Court of Appeals to establish sufficiency is not what the state or the trial court relied on as the basis for the assault. They focused on I.S.'s failed attempt to spit at Sgt. Fairchild, believing that that act was the assault. CP 71, 77 (officers indicating probable cause to arrest for assault in the third degree based on spitting episode); CP 37 (finding of fact 3 that "Respondent spit at Sgt. Fairchild").² Everyone was focused on the spitting incident below. Because the government seems to believe that mere spitting and missing is an assault under Washington law, this issue not reached by the Court of Appeals should be reviewed for constitutional sufficiency guidance and guidance to law enforcement about

² The trial court also found that "when Sgt. Fairchild attempted to speak with Respondent about a recent incident he began to fight with officers." CP 37. As discussed above and argued below, this is not supported by the record. Br. of Appellant at 17-18. Mr. S first explained to officers that they had no right to be in his home and did not physically resist officers until they grabbed him. Sgt. Fairchild did more than "attempt[] to speak" with Mr. S.

what is and what is not an assault under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4).

Three definitions of assault have been recognized by Washington courts: (1) an attempt, with unlawful force, to inflict bodily injury upon another; (2) an unlawful touching with criminal intent; and (3) putting another in apprehension of harm whether or not the actor actually intends to inflict or is incapable of inflicting that harm.

<u>State v. Hupe</u>, 50 Wn. App. 277, 282, 748 P.2d 263 (1988), overruled on other grounds by <u>State v. Smith</u>, 159 Wn.2d 779, 787, 154 P.3d 873 (2007).

There is no question that hitting another person with spit constitutes an assault under the second <u>Hupe</u> definition. "A battery is a consummated assault. Spitting may constitute a battery." <u>State v. Humphries</u>, 21 Wn. App. 405, 409, 586 P.2d 130 (1978) (citation omitted). "'Although minor, [spitting] is an application of force to the body of the victim, a bodily contact intentionally highly offensive." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>United States v. Frizzi</u>, 491 F.2d 1231, 1232 (1st Cir. 1974)). Thus, if Mr. S's spit had landed on Sgt. Fairchild, that would be assault.

But here, there was no contact. CP 44, 49, 63, 70. Thus, the pertinent questions are whether an unsuccessful attempt to spit at someone evinces (1) an intent to cause bodily injury or (2) an intent to create fear or apprehension of bodily injury that in fact does create a fear or apprehension bodily injury. Although certainly offensive, because spitting is not an act that ordinarily would or could cause bodily injury, the answer to both questions is no. Nor did Sgt. Fairchild or another officer offer evidence that they were actually fearful of bodily injury based on the attempted There was insufficient evidence of an assault by spitting. attempted spitting in this case.³

³ As Mr. S discussed in his Court of Appeals brief, the Ohio Court of Appeals has repeatedly analyzed the precise question of whether attempted spitting constitutes assault under the Ohio assault statute, which is similar to Washington's nonbattery definitions of assault. Br. of Appellant at 13-17. The Ohio courts have correctly concluded that without specific evidence of fear of "physical harm" (the term used in the Ohio statute), spitting on or attempting to spit on an officer is not intended to cause harm nor would it be likely to cause fear of harm, and therefore is not sufficient evidence of assault. Sepulveda, 71 N.E.3d 1240, 1249, 2016 Ohio 7177 (Ohio Ct.

Mr. S was arrested and charged with third degree assault based on his attempt to spit on Sgt. Fairchild. Because the spit made no physical contact and because there was no evidence presented that the spit was intended to or had the potential to cause bodily injury to Sgt. Fairchild or fear or apprehension thereof, the evidence was not sufficient to sustain a conviction for any assault. To provide guidance on whether attempted spitting is constitutionally sufficient evidence of assault under Washington common law, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Officers' entry into the home was not authorized by exigent circumstances or any other warrant exception, and Mr. S was entitled to resist officers' illegal physical restraint

Even accepting the Court of Appeals decision that no suppression remedy may follow from officers' unlawful intrusion into Ms. S's home, <u>I.J.S.</u>, slip op. at 10-12, Mr. S addresses the unlawfulness of police actions because, as discussed above, it

App. 2016); <u>State v. Bailey</u>, 83 Ohio App. 3d 544, 546-47, 614 N.E.2d 322 (1992).

bears on whether Mr. S's actions resisting the officers constitute an assault or lawful conduct.

The United States and Washington Constitutions prohibit most warrantless entries into homes. State v. Smith, 165 Wn.2d 511, 517, 199 P.3d 396 (2009). The Fourth Amendment guaranties "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated." Article I, section 7 provides, "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." To enter a home without a warrant, police must meet one of the ""few jealously and carefully drawn exceptions to the warrant requirement."" Smith, 165 Wn.2d at 517 (quoting State v. Kinzy, 141 Wn.2d 373, 384, 5 P.3d 668 (2000) (quoting State v. Houser, 95 Wn.2d 143, 149, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980))). The prosecution bears the burden of proving that the warrantless search meets one of these exceptions and may not use an exception as a pretext to further their investigation. Smith, 165 Wn.2d at 517; State v. Ladson, 138 Wn.2d 343, 356, 979 P.2d 833 (1999).

Exigent circumstances is one exception to the warrant requirement, and the one relied on in this prosecution. "The rationale behind the exigent circumstances exception 'is to permit a warrantless search where the circumstances are such that obtaining a warrant is not practical because the delay inherent in securing a warrant would compromise officer safety, facilitate escape or permit the destruction of evidence." Smith, 165 Wn.2d at 517 (quoting State v. Audley, 77 Wn. App. 897, 907, 894 P.2d 1359 (1995)). "Exigent circumstances involve a true emergency." State v. Cruz, 195 Wn. App. 120, 125, 380 P.3d 599 (2016).

"We determine whether an exigent circumstance existed by looking at the totality of the situation in which the circumstance arose." Smith, 165 Wn.2d at 518. Six factors guide this analysis:

"(1) the gravity or violent nature of the offense with which the suspect is to be charged; (2) whether the suspect is reasonably believed to be armed; (3) whether there is reasonably trustworthy information that the suspect is guilty; (4) there is strong reason to believe that the suspect is on the premises; (5) a likelihood that the suspect will escape if not swiftly apprehended; and (6) the entry [can be] made peaceably."

<u>Id.</u> (alteration in original) (quoting <u>State v. Cárdenas</u>, 146 Wn.2d 400, 406, 47 P.3d 127, 57 P.3d 1156 (2002)).

The exigent circumstances exception was not satisfied here and officers were unlawfully in Mr. S's home when they physically restrained him.

Per the factors, first, officers were shown a three-second video of unidentified males in a fistfight. RP 24-25, 38. This video did not necessarily even show any criminal activity, let alone a grave or violent offense to charge a suspect with. And, as the trial court concluded, officers had no idea who the "suspect" was—officers described the scene as chaotic and freely admitted they had no idea who was the victim and who was the suspect. RP 15; CP 100 (conclusion of law 4 that officers "did not know

who was assaulted, the identification of the parties involved, where the third male was, if anyone posed a danger to those present, the status of anything that occurred"). Officers observed neither assaultive behavior nor any injuries that would support any notion that a grave or violent offense had occurred; they heard screaming and that's it. RP 18, 25, 28, 30, 41, 43-45. Because officers did not have even enough information to identify a suspect let alone a suspect who was suspected of committing any criminal offense, the first factor does not support the exigent circumstances exception.

Neither does the second factor, "whether the suspect is reasonably believed to be armed." <u>Cárdenas</u>, 146 Wn.2d at 406. Officers acknowledged they saw no weapons and had no reports of any weapons. RP 16, 43. There was no immediate danger or emergency.

Similar to the first factor, the third factor—whether officers had reasonably trustworthy information that the suspect was guilty—is not remotely satisfied. Officers did not know who

the suspect was or what had happened; they had absolutely no information that any potential suspect was guilty of anything.

Fourth, there was not a strong reason to believe that the "suspect" was on the premises for the same reason—they had no idea who the suspect was. And, if officers were so concerned by an exigent danger of a suspect being on the premises, they would have thoroughly searched the premises for this supposed suspect. But they admitted they conducted no sweep of the premises, belying the state's theory that there was a true exigent circumstance that justified warrantless entry. RP 33, 48.

The fifth factor, the likelihood of suspect escape, is not met either. Officers arrived and heard an ongoing nonphysical argument, albeit with loud screaming. RP 11-13, 25-26, 30, 39. There was no indication that the people inside the apartment even knew of the officers' presence, let alone that any of them would try to escape from officers. And, when Mr. S did notice the officers, he did not try to escape but correctly asserted that they had no right to be in his apartment. RP 15, 17-18. Officers had

not identified any suspect when they entered so they simply had no reason to believe any suspect would attempt to escape if not swiftly apprehended. The fifth factor, like all the others, supports no exigency.

Sixth, peaceful entry, does not support exigency either. The officers described the fight occurring inside as "chaotic" and they entered in order to "control the scene." RP 15-17. Mr. S repeatedly told officers they had no permission or right to be in his home. RP 15, 17-18. Officers claimed not to know if the assault was over, despite seeing or hearing no assaultive conduct of any kind. RP 21, 25, 39. Emotions were clearly high and one of the residents was asserting his constitutional rights against the The trial court's finding that officers' "relatively officers. peaceful" entry simply because they did not push anyone to enter (findings 30 and 31) is not supported by substantial evidence. The sixth factor also fails to support the exigent circumstances exception.

In sum, not a single factor identified by the Washington Supreme Court in <u>Cárdenas</u> and <u>Smith</u> supports a warrantless entry under the exigent circumstances exception. As the officers' testimony made clear, they entered Mr. S's apartment not for exigency, but to "conduct the investigation." RP 16-18. "The police may not use an exception as a pretext for an evidentiary search," <u>Smith</u>, 165 Wn.2d at 517, yet the police expressly admitted at the suppression hearing that they did just that. The trial court's determination that exigent circumstances justified the warrantless and unlawful intrusion into Mr. S's home is erroneous.

Even accepting that the violation of Mr. S's constitutional rights does not warrant suppression of any evidence, it is pertinent in assessing whether Mr. S's actions undertaken to resist and escape the officers' unlawful actions truly constituted an assault, as discussed above. The <u>D.E.D.</u> decision eschews the notion that one has a duty to cooperate with the unlawful actions of police officers, or that one commits an assault simply by

resisting an unlawful seizure. Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with <u>D.E.D.</u> on the issue of whether resisting officers amounted to assaultive conduct, review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3), as argued above.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Because I.S. satisfies all RAP 13.4(b) review criteria, this petition for review should be granted.

DATED this 13th day of April, 2022.

I certify this document contains 4,688 words. RAP 18.17(c)(10).

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC

KEVIN A. MARCH

WSBA No. 45397

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Petitioner