FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/12/2022 10:28 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100828-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

I.S.,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are correctly set out in the Court of Appeals decision.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE STIPULATED RECORD IN THIS CASE DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

This case presents only one real issue: whether the evidence at the stipulated trial supports the defendant's conviction for third degree assault. That issue involves an interpretation of the police reports that were entered into evidence in this case. Such an issue does not warrant review by this court.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of this issue was also correct. An assault can be committed by an "actual battery", which means "an intentional touching or striking of another person that is harmful or offensive." State v.

Cardenas-Flores, 189 Wn.2d 243, 266 ¶ 40, 401 P.3d 19 (2017). A police report indicated that "[I.S.]'s resisting eventually pulled [him and two police officers] to the ground." CP 122. A reasonable fact-finder could determining that "pull[ing] [someone] to the ground" is an intentional and offensive touching. Review is not warranted to determine how an established legal definition applies to the facts set out in the police reports in this case.

B. SINCE BOTH PARTIES AGREE THAT THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE CONSTITUTIONALLY-REQUIRED STANDARD FOR REVIEW OF BENCH TRIAL FINDINGS, THAT ISSUE DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

The petitioner nonetheless asks this court to consider the standard of review for bench trial findings. In criminal cases, the standard of review is whether a "rational trier of fact could have found proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 324, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979).

This court has specifically applied that standard in reviewing a conviction at a stipulated trial. State v. Drum, 168 Wn.2d 23, 34-35 ¶ 22, 225 P.3d 237 (2010). This standard is more intensive than a review for "substantial evidence." See State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 222, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

In one case, however, this court used potentiallyconfusing language to describe the standard of review for a non-stipulated bench trial:

To determine whether sufficient evidence supports a conviction, we view the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution and determine whether any rational fact finder could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, following a bench trial, appellate review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether the findings support the conclusions of law. "Substantial evidence" is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the asserted premise.

State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105-06 ¶ 7, 330 P.3d 182 (2014) (citations omitted). This language seems to

suggest that the "substantial evidence" standard is the same as the <u>Jackson</u> standard. Under prior case law, this is incorrect. "Substantial evidence" is a lesser standard, which is constitutionally insufficient. <u>See Green</u>, 94 Wn.2d at 222.

In the present case, the Court of Appeals applied the <u>Jackson</u> standard. Slip op. at 4-5. The defendant does not contend that this standard was wrong. Nor could he, since that standard is more favorable to him than the "substantial evidence" standard. Notwithstanding any confusing language in <u>Homan</u>, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard. This issue does not warrant review.

C. SINCE THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION WAS NOT BASED ON HIS ATTEMPT TO SPIT ON A POLICE OFFICER, THIS COURT NEED NOT DECIDE WHETHER SUCH AN ATTEMPT CONSTITUTES AN ASSAULT.

The defendant asks this court to determine whether spitting at another person constitutes "assault." That issue

is not presented by this case. The Court of Appeals did not affirm the conviction on the basis of the spitting. Rather, the court relied on the defendant's action in pulling the officers to the ground. Slip op. at 10. Whether the spitting also constituted an assault is therefore irrelevant to the outcome of this case.

The defendant suggests that law enforcement authorities need "guidance" on whether an unsuccessful attempt to spit on someone is an assault. It is clear, however, that such an attempt is a criminal act. Intentionally spitting on someone is an actual battery, which constitutes an assault. State v. Humphries, 21 Wn. App. 405, 408, 586 P.2d 130 (1978). An attempt to commit an actual battery constitutes the crime of attempted assault. State v. Hall, 104 Wn. App. 56, 64, 14 P.3d 884 (2000). Law enforcement authorities are thus justified in arresting and prosecuting a person for that act. The severity of the crime can be determined in a case

where it makes a difference. Since it makes no difference in the present case, the issue does not warrant review.

D. BECAUSE ILLEGAL POLICE CONDUCT IS NOT A DEFENSE TO A CHARGE OF ASSAULT, THE LEGALITY OF POLICE CONDUCT HERE IS NOT AN ISSUE WARRANTING REVIEW.

Finally, the defendant asks this court to review whether the police entry into his apartment was justified by exigent circumstances. This issue as well is irrelevant. A person may not use force to resist a police officer's unlawful conduct, unless the person is threatened with physical injury. State v. Valentine, 132 Wn.2d 1, 935 P.2d 1294 (1997). Here, there is no claim that the defendant believed that he was in physical danger from the officers.

As a result, the legality of the police conduct makes no difference. If the defendant assaulted the officers, he is guilty of third degree assault—even if the police were engaging in unlawful conduct. Conversely, if the defendant's actions did not constitute an assault, he is not

guilty of that crime—even if the police were engaging in lawful conduct.

The defendant claims that the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with <u>State v. D.E.D.</u>, 200 Wn. App. 484, 402 P.3d 851 (2017). There, the court held that passive resistance to an investigatory detention does not constitute the crime of obstructing a public servant. <u>Id.</u> at 496 ¶ 25. This holding was based on the absence of a statutory duty to cooperate with a police investigation. <u>Id.</u> at 495 ¶ 22. The holding did *not* turn on the legal or illegal nature of the investigation. <u>Id.</u> at 494 ¶ 20.

Since the defendant in <u>D.E.D.</u> was not charged with assault, the court had no occasion to decide whether the defendant's actions constituted that crime. Moreover, the defendant's actions in the present case went beyond "passive resistance." There is no inconsistency between the present case and <u>D.E.D.</u>

If the legality of the entry were an issue, the evidence supports the trial court's conclusion that the entry was lawful. CP 100. According to the trial court's findings, police responded to a report of an assault. CP 98, Finding no. 2. Witnesses told the officers that the people involved in the fight had gone into a particular apartment. Id., Finding no. 9, On approaching that apartment, police heard screaming coming from inside. Id., Finding no. 12. When they contacted the occupant (the defendant's mother), she was "highly agitated, screaming and yelling." CP 99, Finding no. 21. She said something about her son being assaulted. Id., Finding no. 22. The defendant did not assign error to any of these findings. Brief of Appellant at 1-2. Under these circumstances, the police properly entered the apartment "to deter a possibly ongoing assault, ensure safety, provide help and prevent a suspect fleeing." CP 100, Conclusion no. 4.

Ultimately, however, the correctness of this conclusion is immaterial. As the Court of Appeals correctly held, any illegal police conduct would not justify exclusion of the evidence of a subsequent assault. Slip op at 11, citing State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 475, 901 P.2d 286 (1995); See D.E.D., 200 Wn. App. at 292 ¶ 15. Consequently, any issue concerning that lawfulness of the police entry does not warrant review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.

This Answer contains 1318 words (exclusive of title sheet, table of contents, table of authorities, certificate of service, and signature blocks).